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Wednesday, December 2nd • 6–7pm

2020 Annual Meeting
VirtualVirtual

Register now for this year's Annual Meeting!
Scan this QR code or visit www.rivervalley.coop

All co-op owners are invited to Zoom into our Annual Meeting for a virtual co-op celebration!  
The evening will include:

• Local Music by The O-Tones (theotones.com) 
with Samirah Evans and Evelyn Harris

• Keynote Address  
Abolitionist Roots of Cooperation presented 
by our Diversity, Equity and Inclusion Manager 
LaDonna Sanders-Redmond. A crankie production 
by Gabriel Harrell with an encore appearance by 
Ursula, the puppet.

• President's Report

• Easthampton Update
 − Green Building Features with Jonathan Wright, 

founder of Wright Builders
 − Virtual Tour of Easthampton store with Thomas 

Douglas of Thomas Douglas Architects
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In this Annual Report, we 
are informing River Valley 
Co-op owners about the 
results of our work over the 
last fiscal year, which ended 
June 30, 2020.

Our mission is to create a just 
marketplace that nourishes the 
community. Because our co-op has a 
triple bottom line, this report is more 
than an annual financial statement. 
It includes information on the three 
P’s vital to River Valley Co-op: People, 
Planet, and Profit. Thank you for your 
attention to your cooperative’s business!

FY20 ANNUAL REPORT

Building a 
Better Future 
Together
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 We’re changing and growing - In ways we’ve planned and 
predicted, and in ways previously unimagined!  And change, 
no matter planned or not, presents challenges. The key to 
meeting those challenges is to keep our focus on the activity 
at hand, and hold dearly the vision of where we are going.

Some changes we’d planned and predicted: We are 
building our second store. After many years of research, 
education, discussion, and planning, the Board signed our 
resolution authorizing the general manager to proceed with 
the financing of the purchase of land and the construction 
of our second store, scheduled to open in June 2021 in 
Easthampton. That momentous decision was in January 2020, 
and February was the last time we Board members met in 
person!

And then the pandemic hit. Our board meetings went 
online, and we focused our attention on supporting the 
general manager and the operations team to respond to the 
economic and health crises brought on by the coronavirus 
pandemic. Shoppers and staff alike had to change the ways 
we do things, and change them very quickly.  As the co-op 
operations team showed us all, when we design systems that 
serve the needs of those placed in the front lines of greatest 
risk, the risks are reduced for all of us.

We also doubled down on our efforts to ensure that 
our mission to create a just marketplace that nourishes 
the community means that we are active and explicit in 
combating the injustice of racism in the food system, in our 
store, and on our Board. In July of 2019, the co-op hired our 
first Diversity, Equity and Inclusion Manager. As a Board, we 
commit to a multi-year program of learning – individually and 
as a group, examining our governance practices and policies 
for implicit bias, and changing those policies that create or 
perpetuate barriers to equity. We are growing and changing, 
and the uprisings this summer in support of Black Lives 
Matter inspire us all to reconnect our cooperative roots to the 
abolitionist movements, past and present, around the world.

The pandemic will surely change so much of what and 
how we do, indeed, we’re already building changes into the 
design of the new store based on the change in operations 
due to the pandemic. And though much is changing – as it 
should, and for the better we hope – I also believe we’ve 
been reminded that our core vision is strong and unchanging. 
Since the store opened in 2008, our co-op vision has been to 
support the strength and resilience of our local food system. 
We saw it this spring when connections with local suppliers 
helped the store nimbly manage the supply chain shortages. 

As we walk lightly through the portal to a better world that 
this pandemic can be, standing strong together on the 
mission to grow local will help anchor the health and well-
being of the region.  Times of transition are rarely easy. There 
is much uncertainty. As we look ahead to 2021, the Board is 
excited to welcome new co-op owners from Easthampton 
and neighboring communities, to broaden our connections 
with more local suppliers, diversify our offerings and to keep 
building a just marketplace that nourishes the community.

Twelve Years Strong
PRESIDENT'S REPORT by Dorian Gregory

Total FY20 Total FY20 Sales Increased 3.4% to:Sales Increased 3.4% to:

$30$30,,638638,,667667

"Historically, pandemics have 
forced humans to break with the 
past and imagine their world 
anew. This one is no different. It 
is a portal, a gateway between 
one world and the next. We 
can choose to walk through 
it, dragging the carcasses of 
our prejudice and hatred, our 
avarice, our data banks and 
dead ideas, our dead rivers and 
smoky skies behind us. Or we 
can walk through lightly, with 
little luggage, ready to imagine 
another world. And ready to 
fight for it." 
– Arundhati Roy
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Have you ever woken up in a panic, questioning your 
preparedness for a given moment, only to come to the 
calming realization that you have been preparing for this 
moment every day for the past several years?  The financial 
and operational results of 2020 are a testament to the 
preparedness and capability of our co-op leadership team, 
and the dedication of the full staff. 

After 3 quarters of co-op financials tracking right to the 
2020 budget, the world turned upside down last March and 
impacted retail grocery operations on every front.  Almost 
overnight, the co-op had to manage a plethora of business 
dynamics that placed upward pressure on expenses and 
downward pressure on revenues.  You witnessed the decisive 
leadership of the co-op staff, and a great many of you made 
it a point to share how impressed and comforted you were 
by the actions of your co-op.  Leadership implemented 
additional essential worker compensation on March 9th, just 
when the crisis grocery sales surge began.

The March sales surge lasted only a few weeks and was 
followed by a decline in sales for the 4th quarter.  As the 
pandemic impact has been ongoing, so too have the related 
financial impacts been ongoing.  As a result, the co-op is 
currently projecting an operating deficit for fiscal year 2021.  
We have received COVID-19 relief funding in the form of a 
Payroll Protection Program loan (PPP) that helped offset 
some added expense. Another round of PPP funding would 
be welcomed support, but the prospect of additional federal 
COVID-19 relief is uncertain. While this FY2021 operating 
deficit is a deviation from what we had projected pre-COVID, 
management has contingency plans in place to ensure the 
co-op overall financial position remains strong.  

2020 RESULTS
While the proactive management of the pandemic increased 
Personnel and Other Operating Expenses by $0.5 million, 
the co-op finished the year with net income before taxes 
of $351,098 (or 1.06% of sales), up 25.2% from prior year. 
Due to the high percentage of co-op owner sales, the Board 
of Directors was able to declare a Patronage Dividend of 
$275,000, up 7.9% from prior year. Consistent with principled 
past practice and IRS tax code, 80% of this Patronage 
Dividend will be reinvested in the co-op with 20% distributed 
to owners ($55,000 distributed collectively to owners). This 
80% reinvestment is how a healthy business stays healthy: 
by maintaining and replacing necessary equipment, by 
investing in people and future operations growth, and by 
positioning itself to weather unexpected financial storms. 
The co-op’s operations are primarily funded by co-op owners’ 
grocery purchases. This consumer ownership structure, with 
dividends based on the profits your purchases generate, 
keeps more money invested in our co-op and our community. 
Profits generated by customers who are not owners are 
subject to regular income taxation.

Profitability was driven by sales growth, up 3.4% from 
prior year, favorability in Other Income, financing and 
cooperative investment activities, and expense management.  
The drag on sales in the 4th quarter from reduced store hours 
and COVID-19 customer count limits was largely offset by 
an increase in the average purchase amount per customer. 
One byproduct of the expansion financing is that the co-op 
simultaneously refinanced existing debt at lower rates, 
reducing interest expense. Our Food For All discounts for low 
income shoppers had another year of double digit growth, 
increasing sales and the associated discount expense. 
Marketing expenses were lower due to the widespread 
cancellation of community events during the 4th quarter. 
Once again the co-op donated over $150,000 in support of 
local community initiatives, including to Black Lives Matter 
and multiple local anti-racism related organizations. In 
July 2019, we engaged a consultant as our Interim Diversity, 
Equity & Inclusion Program Manager to develop and deliver 
training and coaching to co-op staff and Board members. 
This all-important work was staffed and active at the co-op 
coming into and during the dramatic national rise in support 
of the Black Lives Matter movement that took the form of 
widespread ongoing demonstrations that started in June 2020.  

In addition to profitability and sales growth, financial and 
operational vital signs of the co-op are favorable for fiscal 
year end. Gross profit margin was maintained at 36.3% (36.2% 
in FY2019). Inventory turnover has increased for the past 
four years and exceeds that of our co-op grocer peer group, 
reflecting how facility size limitations in our growing business 
requires maximizing space usage and relying on frequent 
deliveries to serve customer needs. Co-op membership 
increased again this year to a total of 11,290 owners (up 6.1% 
from prior year).   

So yes, another year of cooperative growth and 
sustainable profitability while staying true to the mission of 

Financial Health
TREASURER'S REPORT by Mark Devlin

This year's goal is to get 3,000 new co-op owners  
before the Easthampton store opens in June. To help us  

reach that goal and join our outreach committee, contact 
Natasha Latour at nlatour@rivervalley.coop.

Total Co-op Owners

1111,,290290
An increase of 6.1% over last year!
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creating a just marketplace that nourishes the community. 
I see the co-op as well-positioned for sustainable future 
growth in operations and ownership due to its:

• Vital Signs: current financial health and operational 
proficiencies

• Expansion Investment: construction is on track for a new 
store opening before July 1st, 2021

• Economic Development Financing: impressively executed 
expansion funding that includes over $4 million of 
potential debt reduction at the end of the seven year 
financing term

• Federal Pandemic Relief: successful participation in the 
Payroll Protection Program and expecting an estimated 
$1.3 million in loan forgiveness

• Ownership Engagement: increases in both 
the number of co-op owners and 
their total store purchases; $5.4 
million in owner loans in support 
of the expansion

• Co-op Leadership Team and Staff: 
the difference-making dedication 
and talent of our full staff

LEADERSHIP TEAM & STAFF
These year-end results, given the 
pandemic related business pressures, 
are very impressive, but not more so than 
the people who produced them. Numbers 
do not produce themselves. People 
produce numbers. It is the preparedness, 
skills, dedication, and actions of the River 
Valley Co-op staff that produced the FY2020 
results and made this report so pleasant to 
compile. From current store safety to curbside 
pickup creation; from store flow signage to 
sourcing new food suppliers; from obtaining 
payroll protection to effecting essential worker 
pay; from installing a new Point of Sale system to 
Easthampton expansion planning and construction 
-- the list of mission-critical employee actions over this 
past year, and through the COVID-19 crisis, is near endless. 
Our long-standing and forward-looking General Manager, 
Rochelle Prunty, developed and empowered her leadership 
team in preparation for this moment. It is my view that this 
preparation and empowerment is what enables the collective 
care and effectiveness of our full co-op staff.

This has been an incredibly challenging year. This co-op 
staff simply was on it, and the results depict it. The pandemic 
related financial challenges of 2020 have and will follow 
us into the new fiscal year.  But while you process possible 
feelings of panic in this moment charged with concerns for 
the pandemic, preservation of our planet, systemic racism, 
and our national politics, to name a few, I encourage you 
to take in the calm of knowing that your local cooperative 
grocery store is in very capable hands.

20
20
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On Location in EasthamptonOn Location in Easthampton
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EXPEDITION EASTHAMPTON! 
The project we call Expedition Easthampton (the project 
to build a second store in Easthampton) has inspired us to 
focus our energy on building a better future together through 
the physical expansion of our cooperative. We secured an 
option on a second store site in Easthampton in January of 
2018, but we've been laying the groundwork for this major 
step in our evolution over the last six years by strengthening 
our current operations and engaging our owners first in 
developing the vision and then in the fundraising. In July 
of 2019, we announced with deep gratitude that we had 
successfully finalized our co-op owner loan campaign, raising 
over $5 million for the new store. We secured our economic 
development financing commitments which, combined 
with our outside bank financing from Easthampton Savings 
Bank, made the project feasible in September of 2019. Much 
gratitude to Anthony L. Cignoli of A.L. Cignoli Associates 
along with our city and state elected officials for support 
in securing the final funding needed. Easthampton Savings 
Bank, the Massachusetts Housing Investment Corporation, 
the National Community Investment Fund, Vermont Rural 
Ventures, Capital One Community Reinvestment Fund, and 
Twin Pines Cooperative Foundation all partnered with us to 
fund the Easthampton project. Our project team, including 
Wright Builders, Thomas Douglas Architects, Berkshire Design 
Group, NCG Development Co-op, Co-op Power, and Solar 
Design Associates, developed plans to start construction 
after the projected closing date of January 31st, 2020. The City 
of Easthampton secured a MassWorks grant for the important 
infrastructure improvements needed for the roadway and 
sidewalks associated with our project in November of 2019. 
Monica Nuñez, our Expansion Project Manager, has been in 
the lead on the project planning, including the MassWorks 
Grant project application project in collaboration with 
the City of Easthampton. We closed on the financing and 
purchased the property on Friday, January 31st, 2020. Our 

Chief Financial Officer, Duke Bouchard, took the lead in 
the co-op's financing project with support from our Senior 
Bookkeeper, Wendy Messerli. Our real estate attorneys, David 
Bloomberg and Richard Helde, worked long hours in many 
meetings with our lenders and their attorneys from December 
through January to complete this complicated financing 
closing. A project of this scope typically takes four to six 
months. Due to the schedules of our economic development 
funders, we had just two months to finalize it. I am very 
grateful for the expertise brought to this project by our staff, 
project team and financing team. Also, thank you to the Fedor 
Family for their patience and support in working through the 
process and extended timeline to purchase the property. In 
February 2020, we began work on the site, starting with the 
existing building's demolition and materials recycling. We 
planned for a community groundbreaking event in March 
2020, anticipating an opening in April of 2021. 

THE PANDEMIC
In February, the potential of COVID-19 becoming an issue 
became a part of our conversation and planning. I remember 
reviewing the various steps in our co-op pandemic emergency 
plan document, just as a precaution. At the end of February, 
we completed a reset of our grocery department. Our 
goal was to create a little more space around the store's 
perimeter, increase our shelf space, and improve the store 
flow. People barely had a chance to get used to the new layout 
before the March spread of COVID-19 began in Massachusetts. 
Our February review of our co-op pandemic emergency plan 
had really helped us prepare for fast changes we needed to 
make. We canceled our March groundbreaking celebration. 
Our general contractor, Wright Builders, paused work for 
a few weeks to rework their project coordination plans to 
accommodate COVID-19 safety practices. They resumed work 
on-site at the end of April. 

In our Northampton store and grocery stores all across 
the country, sales surged for several weeks in March as we 
were all urged to stock up on a two-week supply of groceries. 
This led to a near-collapse of the grocery distribution system. 
The food system is maximized for efficiency with “just in 
time” production, inventory, and distribution. That meant 
no one had enough staple products in the stores or the 
warehouses for the entire country to shop two weeks ahead. 
Manufacturers were similarly unable to meet the demand. 
Our primary grocery supplier typically delivers 1,500-2,000 
cases of groceries six days a week. While demand increased 
to 3,000+ cases a day, deliveries shrunk to 150-500 cases a 
day and grocery shelves emptied. Our purchasing team did an 
amazing job of securing alternative sources for products, and 
our local vendors came through to help fill the gaps as much 
as possible.

Interestingly, hand sanitizer requires several weeks of 
“cure” time before it is effective and can be sold. This made 

Year in Review: FY20
GENERAL MANAGER'S REPORT by Rochelle Prunty

October 2019: Easthampton 
Mayor Nicole LaChapelle, 
Ursula the bear, and I. Back 
then we had no idea that 2020 
would be bringing a world pan-
demic just as the co-op would 
be launching its construction 
project. But we’ve adapted and 
carried on, paddling through 
the unpredictable currents of 
COVID-19. Thankfully we’ve got 
a great team and have amazing 
community support to help 
paddle as we navigate these 
challenges. Special thank you to 
Mayor Nicole LaChapelle and 
the City of Easthampton.
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for widespread shortages when it was required for public 
health in all institutions, including grocery stores. Local 
breweries and distilleries jumped into action to produce hand 
sanitizer to help fill the gap. One of our local vendors, M&G 
Kettle Korn, offered us their portable sink to use soap and 
water for customers to wash their hands when we couldn’t get 
enough hand sanitizer. 

Thankfully, the grocery supply-line recovered a lot over 
the summer. We’ve recently leased additional storage space 
and stockpiled some of our most popular shelf-stable pantry 
products (and toilet paper too!), just in case we run into 
another shortage situation over the next few months. 

We increased our staff's compensation with a $2/hour 
essential community service worker premium on March 9th, 
2020. Plexi-barriers were installed, floors were marked for 
six-foot social distancing, new customer limits were imposed, 
we sanitized all the surfaces and handles and keyboards 
in the store. All handles and surfaces were repeatedly 
sanitized for each customer before use. Our priority was to 
do our best to minimize our employees' risks working in the 
store and our customers' shopping risks, while providing an 
essential service of feeding our community. There was that 
awkward period when face masks were discouraged by health 
authorities for grocery workers. Then suddenly, they were 
required for everyone. Employers were required to ensure 
employees have a clean face mask every four hours. Supplies 
of PPE were scarce, so the community made face masks for 
our staff to wear. That was such an amazing gift of kindness 
and care. The beautiful and colorful variety of handmade face 
masks you provided filled us with gratitude. Thank you! 

With many staff taking leaves due to child care or high-
risk health conditions, we cut store hours back. We are 
grateful that we have been able to restore our operating 
hours to 8 am - 10 pm, and that we're able to reserve the first 
hour for community members with compromised immune 
systems including people over the age of 60.

We quickly launched a curbside pickup service in March, 
which served up to 75 customers with high-risk health 
conditions a day. We have continued to develop and refine 
this new service ever since. Curbside pickup at the co-op 
is now available to everyone. We made a major point of 
sale tech upgrade in August. This included an e-commerce 
platform that we launched just before Thanksgiving. Our 
new WebCart platform makes online ordering easier for both 
customers and the staff putting the orders together. We are 
also working with LakBay Delivery, a local vendor and woman-
owned business to provide a home delivery grocery service. 
Our staff has worked hard to prepare for the upcoming 
holiday and winter season at the co-op. We are ready for 
another holiday season whether you shop in the store, pickup 
curbside, get delivery, or use any combination of those. 

Shopping patterns changed dramatically due to 
COVID-19. After a three week surge in sales in March, they 
quickly dropped off after the Governor declared a state 
of emergency. Our customer counts dropped by 50%. 
Fortunately, the average purchase size increased, which 
helped minimize the sales decline. Weekend sales were very 
slow, and weekday mornings were busy. There were no more 
lunch rush periods—the total opposite of our typical patterns. 
The patterns are still far from normal, and our sales have 
been low to flat while conventional grocers' sales have had 

double-digit growth, especially those already positioned with 
online sales. We are hoping to increase our online sales with 
our recent upgrades and addition of home delivery.

The combination of increased compensation and 
operating costs with flat sales created a financial concern 
we hoped would be short term. Our CFO worked with 
Easthampton Savings Bank to secure a PPP loan in April, 
which was intended to support keeping employees on payroll 
in the state of emergency's financial upheaval. That was a big 
help. The first three-quarters of FY2020 carried us through 
with a small net profit at fiscal year end, June 30th, despite 
the 4th quarter COVID-19 related disruptions.

The financial burdens of COVID-19 have followed us into 
the current year, which the PPP loan helped to mitigate, but 
we'd welcome another round of PPP funding if it were to 
become available. Without it, we are operating in the red this 
year, which was not part of our multi-year plan. We have the 
financial capacity to sustain this in the short term, but are 
quickly implementing plans to help mitigate the shortfall. 
The success of outreach for Easthampton co-op owners is 
now even more critical. Way back in 2008, when we opened 
the Northampton store, we attributed much of our success 
to the 2,000 owners that invested $150 as co-op owners 
before the store opened. In light of this, we set a goal to add 
3,000 new co-op owners before opening the Easthampton 
store in June 2021. The Easthampton building is now taking 
shape, and we need your support to recruit new co-op 
owners to help make sure we have a successful start when 
we open. In development projects like this, there is so much 
work that goes into the planning, financing, fundraising, 
and construction that it is easy to forget the hardest work 
of the entire project is actually getting the store to operate 
successfully once it opens for business. With the setback from 
COVID-19, it is even more important to have our community 
involved in doing everything possible to help give the 
Easthampton store a strong co-op ownership foundation to 
support it. We also need to attend to doing all we can to grow 
our Northampton store's sales volume over the rest of the 
year. 

Supporting our local producers and community is 
more important than ever when a crisis strikes. While we 
have financial challenges due to added costs and reduced 
revenues, we have been very fortunate to have kept all our 
staff employed. We also have 420 local food farmers and food 
producers that we have been supporting with our purchases. 
Our purchases from local vendors went up by about $250,000 
in FY2020. I’m grateful to our employees, customers, vendors, 
and community for coming together in so many different ways 
to support each other throughout the year. Thank you for all 
you do!

A FEW KEY 2020 ACCOMPLISHMENTS 

• We welcomed 649 new co-op owners, increasing our
ownership to a total of 11,290.

• Kicked off the year in July 2019 with the hiring of a
Diversity, Equity, and Inclusion Program Manager.

• Launched a Social Justice Committee to engage staff in
our diversity, equity and inclusion efforts as well as other
social justice actions.
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• Purchased a customized food vending trailer for Captain
Jack’s Seafood Shack to use for off-site business during
construction.

• Relocated our administrative offices to 40 Main Street in
Florence, improving the office workspace for store staff,
uniting the administrative team in one building instead of
two, and locating our cooperative administrative services
centrally between the Northampton and future
Easthampton store.

• Increased sales overall to $30.6 million with an increase of
$1,016,583, or 3.43% over the previous year.

• Increased our wholesale local purchases to $6,765,109 with
an increase of $251,763, or 3.87% over the previous year.

• Reached a one million dollar milestone in low income
customer purchases through our Food For All program.

• Nearly 100% plant based packaging for in-store use.

• Worked with the City of Easthampton to secure a
MassWorks grant for nearly $400,000 to address roadway
infrastructure improvements supporting our store
development project.

• Closed on $14.17 million in outside financing to fund
Expedition Easthampton: bankESB and economic
development funding partners Massachusetts Housing
Investment Corporation, Vermont Rural Ventures, National
Community Investment Fund, Capital One Community
Investment Fund, and Twin Pines Cooperative Foundation.

• Engaged Wright Builders, Thomas Douglas Architects,
Berkshire Design Group, and others to launch the
construction plans to address physical needs for
operations, including Captain Jack’s business as well as
green building and energy efficiency values.

• Secured interconnection agreements with Eversource for
our planned rooftop solar installation as well as for the
solar parking lot canopy installation with battery storage
at the Easthampton site. This is projected to generate
about the same amount of power needed to operate the
store, very close to net zero!

• Received a $1.3 million Paycheck Protection Program loan.

• Achieved 1.06% net income for the year before taxes for a
total of $351,098. The Board was able to declare a
patronage dividend of $275,600 that was attributed to
income from owners’ purchases, which will result in a
$55,000 patronage rebate in March 2021.

We couldn’t have done this without the support of our 
community and the great work accomplished by so many 
cooperators... Thank you for all you do!

OUR GENERAL CONTRACTORS: WRIGHT BUILDERS
Our general contractor, Wright Builders, is a highly regarded 
local builder with green building expertise. Living Buildings 
meet the highest standards of sustainability and there 
are less than two dozen in the world. Wright Builders has 
completed two Certified Living Buildings in our community: 
the R.W. Kern Center at Hampshire College and the Hitchcock 
Center for the Environment in Amherst. Jonathan Wright, 
founder of Wright Builders, recently published a book, 
Living Building Makers: Creating Sustainable Buildings That 
Renew Our World. It is a beautiful book about the community 
building that comes about through the process of making 
a living building and the stories the people doing the work 
bring to the table. Wright Builders' green building expertise, 
commitment to the community, and long successful working 
relationship with the co-op are core reasons we selected 
them as our general contractors. They began this journey 
with us in 2015, with Jonathan Wright volunteering his time to 
help support our site search for a second store. We worked 
through a lot of potential sites before deciding on the 
Easthampton location in January 2018. 

Wright Builders is heading up and coordinating our 
project team, which includes Expansion Project Manager 
Monica Nuñez, Thomas Douglas Architects, Berkshire Design 
Group, Co-op Power, Tighe & Bond, Solar Design Associates, 
National Co-op Grocers Development Co-op, and many more 
local subcontractors from all the trades that have joined the 
project over the last year. 

I’m grateful for such caring and accomplished local 
building partners on this project. It is a privilege to work with 
local professionals who are not just deeply knowledgeable of 
green buildings and energy efficiency but are also engaged 
as co-op owners and shoppers. Working with Wright Builder's 
to develop our Easthampton store has been an inspiring 
collaborative community project of working to build a better 
future together. 

September 2020, seven months into the pandemic, Mayor Nicole LaChapelle 
and Wright Builders Project Manager Ann Ledwell tour progress of the 
Easthampton store construction.
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2020: A Year for Deepening 
Gratitude 
by Rochelle Prunty

The pandemic crisis elevated our culture's appreciation of all 
the essential workers that keep our society's daily functions 
functioning in the face of crisis. Healthcare workers and first 
responders have worked heroically for months. In addition, 
there has been a recognition of the many other workers 
essential to our well-being in this crisis including grocery 
workers and other workers throughout the food system. The 
food system includes farm workers, truck drivers, warehouse 
workers, and all the other suppliers of services and 
infrastructure needed for food to reach our tables. Overnight 
millions of workers found themselves on the front lines of this 
pandemic as essential workers, including our own employees.
Lets be clear, food system 
workers have always been 
essential and deserving of 
respect and gratitude. This 
crisis has shined a brighter 
light on this. Many customers 
have responded by thanking 
our staff in recognition of the 
added challenges.
At the same time, we 
appreciate the customer 
support for keeping us 
all fully employed, so the 
appreciation and gratitude 
are mutual.    

Essential worker 
compensation is one way 
many grocery businesses 
supported their employees 
at the start of the COVID crisis. We added a $2/hour premium 
for all hours worked in the store starting on March 9th, which 
is still in place. The PPP funding helped make this possible. 
It seems right that our federal government should support 
our communities by supporting our essential workers during 
this crisis, as well as all the organizations that had to shut 
down and the people who lost their jobs as a result. It is 
impossible to put an adequate value on being on the front 
lines in grocery during a pandemic; compensation is one way 
to express gratitude. Flexibility and support for attending 
to childcare and health concerns, as well as prioritizing 
workplace measures to minimize health risks are two other 
ways of showing gratitude and appreciation to our employees. 
The day-to-day small acts of kindness that take place 
between people working, shopping and delivering products 
in the store help bring us together with feelings of mutual 
support. That is what helps us through the challenges that the 
fear and uncertainty we are all coping with in different ways, 
also bring into our workplace. 

Our staff came together and rose and kept rising to the 
evolving challenges of this crisis. Our Store Manager, Liesel 
de Boor, engaged with department managers and staff to 

address their concerns as well as all the COVID-19 policy 
and procedure measures. The pandemic has bombarded 
Liesel, store department managers and staff with a huge 
variety of operating challenges, from disrupted supply chain 
issues (from sanitizer and gloves, to pasta and toilet paper), 
customer needs, employee needs, store services changes, 
and a host of logistics and scheduling issues. Liesel brings 
an amazing can-do and caring spirit to her work. She has not 
let a world pandemic dampen positive energy. Liesel has 
kept our store team going strong through the many issues 
and challenges with creativity and teamwork. You see her 
everywhere in the store, ensuring good communications, 

helping to solve problems, 
getting new systems working, 
and helping out wherever 
needed.

Operations Manager Evan 
Lash and his team handled 
the safety modifications, 
developed the equipment and 
facility sanitizing procedures, 
and ensured we had cleaning 
supplies. They keep the 
store's operations going with 
whatever new changes are 
needed. Kristyn Lattanzi, our 
Customer Service Manager, 
has risen to the challenges 
of our checkout procedures. 
She also took the lead in 
developing and launching 

our curbside program in March to ensure our customers with 
high-risk conditions had safe access to the co-op. Recently, 
Jason Caron has joined the Customer Service Team as an 
Assistant Manager to take our co-op e-commerce program 
to the next level. Christine Toomasi is our Category Manager, 
and in that role she heads up our purchasing team. She and 
Nate McAlpine, our Grocery Department Manager, worked 
in partnership to add new vendors and develop additional 
sources for products that had become long term out-of-
stocks in March and April with the evolving COVID-related 
supply chain issues.

Our Prepared Foods sales plummeted when we could 
no longer provide customers cafe seating or hot bar and 
salad bar services and Patrice Mercier, our Prepared Foods 
Manager, quickly adapted to the change in demand. He and 
his department staff supported whatever needs there were 
throughout the store, from greeting people at the front 
door to bagging groceries or working in other departments. 
Additionally, Produce Manager Henry Kryeski, Meat and 
Seafood Manager James Zilaro, Wine and Cheese Manager 
Rob Schark, and Wellness Manager Marah MacRostie, along 
with our entire staff, adapted to the needs of the co-op with 

“Gratitude doesn’t change the scenery. It 
merely washes clean the glass you look 
through so you can clearly see the colors.”
– Richelle E. Goodrich

“We often take for granted the very things 
that most deserve our gratitude.” 
– Cynthia Ozick

“Gratitude is one of the most medicinal 
emotions we can feel. It elevates our moods 
and fills us with joy.” 
— Sara Avant Stover
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flexibility and teamwork to do what needed to be done to help 
each other and our customers. COVID made cross-training a 
new routine. All our managers worked extra hard to support 
our local vendors who were hit hard by their loss of school, 
restaurant, and other institutional customers. They often 
came through with deliveries to fill gaps in the availability of 
nationally distributed products. The entire staff took their 
jobs and responsibilities seriously. We have a great team in 
our store, and they certainly have earned essential worker 
hero status!

In addition to our store team, we have an administrative 
team that works off-site. This includes our Finance, Human 
Resources, Marketing, and Purchasing departments, as 
well as our Expansion Project Manager and myself. Our 
administrative offices are conveniently located in Florence, 
about halfway between the Northampton store and soon-
to-open Easthampton store. I want to thank our amazing 
administrative team as well as our store team.

Nicole Cowlin, our Director of Human Resources, has been 
immersed in integrating new state leave, record-keeping, 
and safety requirements into our 
systems. She also regularly engages 
the Labor Management Committee 
for discussions and problem-
solving and provides education 
for the staff and managers to 
navigate the quickly changing 
and critical pandemic-related 
requirements. COVID-19 also forced 
a fast transition to offsite HR 
systems development, which will 
also support two stores effectively. 
Nicole launched a new platform 
for employee communication this 
summer, which has increased 
staff knowledge and engagement. 
Dealing with the COVID crisis on top 
of all the high-intensity HR functions of our 160+ employee 
business, from payroll and benefits to recruiting, hiring and 
development and that is a lot to add. Nicole took on each 
challenge without so much as blinking an eye. She and the HR 
team have done a great job.  

Duke Bouchard, our chief financial officer, dove into 
the Paycheck Protection Program last April to secure this 
Small Business Administration COVID-relief funding working 
through bankESB. This funding was essential to help support 
our increased operating expenses due to COVID. Duke, our 
finance team, and HR also launched all the record-keeping 
needed to support the PPP loan and other state support 
programs. Duke also took the lead on the financing project 
for the Easthampton store. We just completed a two-
month marathon on the closing at the end of January. This 
was followed by setting up a complex requisition process. 
Additionally, we implemented a three-tiered business 
financial reporting structure required as part of the financing 
structure. The ongoing impacts of COVID have made budgeting 
more difficult than ever, and Duke and his team have done a 
great job addressing all of these challenges. It was a big year 
in Finance!

Natasha Latour, our Director of Marketing, pivoted from 
all the events and promotions we had been planning to a 

focus on communications. The frequency of communications 
with our customers on the changing store requirements for 
safe shopping and keeping up with store signage to support 
messaging has been ongoing. She has also been in touch 
with many of our community partners to find out how we 
can best help them at this time. In addition to the COVID 
crisis, our elevated focus on the longstanding national crisis 
of systemic racism also fell heavily on Natasha's shoulders 
through communications to our owners, local organizational 
partners engaged in anti-racism work, education and 
communications for our employees, and the launch of our 
staff Social Justice Committee. This, on top of all the regular 
marketing work of promoting products and food producers, 
as well as developing the branding and décor details for the 
Easthampton store. Natasha was accepted into the St. Mary's 
Cooperative Management Graduate Program this year, taking 
online cooperation and economics classes further deepening 
her co-op knowledge. Natasha keeps her finger on the pulse 
of what is happening internally and externally, and she does a 
great job translating needs into action to address them. With 

all the significant issues of 2020, she 
and the Marketing team have been busy 
on many fronts.

Nate DeRose, our IT manager, 
has dealt with the many needs that 
arose related to curbside orders and 
check-out technology, while ensuring 
the administrative staff had the 
functionality and connectivity needed 
for remote work. In addition, he took 
the lead on the development and 
installation of a new point-of-sale 
system. This was an upgrade planned 
for the more robust needs of a two-
store operation. After Nate's research 
of our newly important curbside service 
options, we added the WebCart platform 

of the new point-of-sale system to our plans. The point-of-
sale program is a system that touches every aspect of our 
store operations, so this was a major development project. 
We hadn't planned on doing it in the middle of a pandemic, 
but we were still able to do the install in August. Keeping this 
timeline is important to get things running smoothly before 
opening with the same system in Easthampton. This was 
a huge amount of work by Nate, Liesel our Store Manager, 
Christine, our Category Manager and her team, as well as 
Kristyn our Customer Service Manager, Wendy our Senior 
Bookeeper, and others. Also thanks to Joel Brock of the Tech 
Support Cooperative for his support. Nate is also heavily 
engaged in the IT system's needs for our Easthampton store 
while also doing a great job keeping our store and office 
technology working well.

LaDonna Sanders-Redmond is our Diversity, Equity and 
Inclusion Manager. She began with us in July of 2019 with a 
two-year contract as a pilot project to develop our program. 
She lives in Minneapolis, so the plan included a mix of on-site 
and remote work. In March we canceled our planned trainings 
because of COVID. In May, we made a plan to get back on track 
with remote trainings. Before we got very far, George Floyd 
was murdered by police in Minneapolis and demonstrations 
spread across the country in support of the Black Lives Matter 

“When we give 
cheerfully and 
accept gratefully, 
everyone is 
blessed.” 

– Maya Angelou
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movement. The Seward Food Co-op, where LaDonna is Board 
President, has one store near the location where George 
Floyd was killed and is located in the neighborhood where 
demonstrations were taking place. Although she had her 
hands full with supporting Seward Co-op and its employees, 
LaDonna also provided important support to our staff, 
management, and Board in navigating how to address this 
issue in our co-op. 

Monica Nuñez, our Expansion Project Manager, has 
been an essential partner in the development of our 
Easthampton Project, starting with the store design process 
a few years ago. She works directly with Ann Ledwell, our 
general contractor's project manager, to coordinate getting 
the co-op's needs addressed and ensuring the contractor 
receives what they need for all the owner supplied portions 
of the project. Monica took the lead on the MassWorks Grant 
application working with the City of Easthampton, which 
resulted in nearly $400,000 in grant funding for the city. 
This grant enabled the city to add a left-turning lane at our 
driveway entrance on Northampton Street, and improve 
the intersection on Lyman Street to build sidewalks and 
crosswalks. She also worked with Eversource to secure 
funding for EV chargers to be installed in our Easthampton 
Parking Lot. Monica is in charge of working with the co-op 
management and store designers to select and order 
store equipment as well as coordinating deliveries with 
our contractors for installation. She helps to ensure the 
requisitions are submitted correctly while keeping a fierce 
eye on the budget and timeline. She does a fantastic job of 

tracking all the project details and has helped to keep our 
Easthampton project on track through this crisis.   

I also want to thank River Valley Co-op's Board of 
Directors. They play an important leadership role. They did 
a tremendous amount of heavy lifting with the expansion 
project over the last several years, including the co-op owner 
loan campaign , expansion research, and preparation for 
making the final decision on financing and purchase of real 
estate for the Easthampton store. The Directors are also 
undertaking a series of intercultural development training 
initiatives while supporting and leading as our organizational 
needs evolve due to COVID-19. 

I hope this has pulled back the curtain a bit to give you a 
little more insight into 2020 and the people making our co-op 
work at various levels. I named just a few of the 160+ people 
working for the co-op, but all have been part of getting us 
through the COVID-19 pandemic and are much appreciated. 
In my co-op work, I often find myself touched with such 
gratitude that it brings tears to my eyes. Seeing the kindness, 
care, and hard work of our employees and the Board through 
this pandemic has deepened my gratitude for the wonderful 
people I work with even more. 

The crisis has called upon us to rise to new challenges, 
and our co-op staff has heroically risen to these challenges. 
Many little things add to a spirit of kindness, generosity, care, 
and mutual support, which is what cooperation is all about: 
working together to meet our mutual needs with care for 
community. Thank you to all for your work!

We're We're wild aboutwild about our co-op staff! our co-op staff!
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As I reflect on January 2020, we were settling into the new 
administrative office that we moved to in November and 
adjusting internal processes for being away from the store.
The Human Resources team held regular meetings about 
everything we needed to accomplish this year in preparation 
for the second store, and we were excited about all the 
coming changes and goals we wanted to reach. By mid-
February, we started hearing of the Coronavirus, so we 
initiated plans for extra cleaning of high-touch surfaces and 
making sure staff stayed home if they were feeling ill. Then 
came March. From then on, time seemed to stand still. We 
have always focused on the safety, well-being, physical 
and mental health, and resiliency of our staff, but this 
year the pandemic took things to an entirely new level. We 
acted quickly to develop safety protocols and implement a 
pandemic response plan. We navigated and communicated 
changing legislation, interpreted and processed leaves of 
absences under the CARES Act, and hired temporary staff 
to fill long-term absences, all while being a central resource 
for staff questions and concerns to keep them informed and 
remaining positive, flexible, engaged and connected. 2020 
has been a challenging year for the Human Resources team. 
While we may end the year having not accomplished all the 
goals we outlined in January, we will end the year knowing 
that we have supported our staff to the fullest extent 
possible during the most challenging times any of us have 
ever faced.

WAGES
On March 9, 2020, we implemented a $2.00 per hour worked 
Essential Community Service Compensation (ECSC) for our 
staff to recognize their added challenges of working in a 
retail environment during the pandemic state of emergency. 
We've continued this additional compensation, and to date, 
the co-op has paid over a quarter of a million dollars in 
ECSC. 

In 2019, we had implemented a Donated PTO Program 
where staff could donate their extra PTO time to the bank 
for someone in need. When it became apparent that this 
was a great need for so many staff, the co-op funded the 
program with an additional $20,000 to cover leaves. To date, 
the co-op has granted $8,554 in additional paid time off to 
staff through the Donated PTO program. 

Last year we had implemented a more comprehensive 
benefits plan with a four-tier structure so that individuals 
and smaller families have lower-cost options. Currently, 
75% of eligible employees receive healthcare benefits, 75% 
receive dental benefits, and 51% recieve vision benefits.

Additionally, last year, we moved our 401k retirement 
plan to a socially responsible investment plan, which fits 
in with the co-op’s values. We also added a 401k match 
component of up to 1.5% with a 59% participation rate of 
eligible employees.

Our total personnel expenses increased $465,810 to 
$7,555,511 in FY2020, which is up from the previous year 
by 6.57%. This includes a little over three months with the 
Essential Community Service Compensation. 

As we all know, 2020 has been a year of constant changes 
and adaptability. In March, we began hiring several temporary 
employees to support operational needs while some co-op 
staff were on short term leaves. As of June 30, 2020, the 
average hourly wage in the co-op’s non-supervisory roles 
was $16.33. With the added $2 per hour worked, currently, the 
average rate would show this increase and come in at $18.33. 

Working at the Co-op
by Nicole Cowlin, Human Resources Director 
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When compared to the MA Bureau of Labor Statistics 
overall non-supervisory retail market median wage rate of 
$13.48/hr (as of May 2019), a current minimum state wage of 
$12.75, as well as the national average of $12.23, our figure 
helps illustrate the strength of our commitment to our 
workers. River Valley Co-op implemented a $15/hour minimum 
starting wage in January of 2018 as part of our collective 
bargaining contract with the UFCW Local 1459.

PREPARING FOR TWO STORES
While the pandemic forced the need for us to streamline 
and have efficient systems in place, we were already on our 
way with the automation of a lot of our internal processes. 
This will be imperative when it comes to supporting multiple 
locations. We have continued to fine-tune internal processes 
and procedures, talent assessments, and training and 
development to continue to make our HR department a strong 
business partner supporting two stores.

We have also effectively implemented our new internal 
communication system, Beekeeper. Beekeeper is optimized 
for non-desk workers via the Beekeeper app and allows 
real-time internal communication to increase knowledge, 
productivity, and engagement. We have also opted to have 
the multilingual feature engaged for our staff who use English 
as a second language.

STAFFING
More than any other year, we found ourselves in need of 
some temporary staffing. Under the CARES Act, the Human 
Resources team administered 11 Emergency Family Medical 
Leaves, 52 Emergency Paid Sick Leaves, and 10 donated leave 
requests. As of June 30, 2020, we had 170 employees, including 
14 temporary employees with 2 open positions. We've been 
fortunate not to have any cases of COVID-19 with staff who 
were working in the store.

Additionally over the past year, with support from 
the management team, we have successfully increased 
productivity, cross-training functionality, and better 
scheduling practices, as well as added a few more part-time 
positions. These positions offered flexibility to employees 
enrolled in school or who needed more work-life balance. 
They also served us well by giving us the flexibility to 
schedule according to our operational needs. This change 
has resulted in a full-time ratio of 88% permanent staff. With 
the expansion in Easthampton, I expect the full-time ratio 
to remain in the high 80% range. We remain committed to 
providing a high level of full-time positions and are far above 
the national retail grocery trend, which is less than 50%.

We continue to strive to hire and promote qualified 
applicants from within the co-op. This year, we filled 70% 
(or 12 positions) of non-entry level positions internally. The 
Easthampton store opening will create many new jobs and 
advancement opportunities for current and new employees. 
We are still anticipating 75 new employees to start in 
Easthampton on opening day before growing that number 
to 100 within the first couple of years. We also expect some 
current staff to transfer to the Easthampton store, creating 
opportunities for advancement and new positions in the 
Northampton store. 

Over the past year, our staff turnover rate was 20.25%, 
which is well below the retail industry average of about 

65% and lower than the 27.11% from the previous year. 
Throughout the pandemic, we were successfully able to 
avoid layoffs and furloughs unlike many local businesses. We 
extended temporary employment opportunities to 16 people 
throughout the pandemic that were adversely impacted by 
the state of emergency in their previous employment.

DIVERSITY AND INCLUSION
We strive to reflect our community’s diversity in our 
workplace, and we’ve largely succeeded, as you can see in the 
chart below.  We continue to work with several organizations 
and community groups to source applicants and candidates 
who reflect our cooperative values.

We continue to benefit from our Diversity, Equity, 
and Inclusion training to help support our cooperative’s 
intercultural competency development to better address 
inclusion and equity in our operations. Our goal is to build 
our leadership skills and capacity to address diversity, equity, 
and inclusion across a broad spectrum of internal workplace 
systems, store operations, and community outreach.  We are 
committed to doing this work in our cooperative to better 
support all our employees and the community we serve.

SOCIAL JUSTICE COMMITTEE
Additionally in partnership with our staff, we developed 
the Social Justice Committee, a committee of staff from 
each department. The committee meets regularly with the 
Marketing and HR manager to share ideas and help support 
the implementation of co-op activities related to diversity, 
equity, inclusion and other social justice aspects of River 
Valley Co-op's activities.

One of the first issues we addressed was developing 
a better system of addressing microaggressions. We had 
previously started a microaggression training internally, but 
sometimes we also have these issues from customers. Based 
on staff feedback, we have developed a plan that includes a 
system for addressing these customer issues that are hurtful 
to our staff members. Of course, we also hold ourselves 
to these standards. We understand this is a development 
opportunity to increase understanding and build a stronger, 
more inclusive, and equitable community. Additionally, we 
have engaged in de-escalation training for all our managers 
and supervisors.

River Valley Co-op  
Staff Population

Northampton 
Population

American Indian  
or Alaska Native

1.06% 0.10%

Asian/Pacific 
Islander

1.06% 4.70%

Black or African 
American

5.82% 2.30%

Hispanic or Latino 8.99% 8.50%

Two or 
More Races

9.52% 3.50%

White 73.54% 87.70%
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Paying it Forward
Cooperative Community Fund Grants
Did you know?
In 2007, 50 food co-ops supported our start-up with 
$660,000 in funding. That is part of why we established 
the River Valley Cooperative Community Fund – to pay it 
forward to help other co-ops.

COOPERATIVE COMMUNITY FUND
The River Valley Co-op Community Fund is a nonprofit 
charitable foundation established by River Valley Co-op’s 
Board of Directors in 2013. The fund is one of 40 individual 
food co-op funds which are aggregated for investment in 
cooperative development by the Twin Pines Cooperative 
Foundation. The earnings of River Valley Co-op’s 
Community Fund can be donated to local nonprofits 
selected by the co-op, while the invested funds continue 
to support co-op development in our region. We’ve built 
up our funds with donations from our co-op, our co-op 
owners and matching funds from some of our vendors to 
$165,512 over the last few years.

This fund is pooled with those of other co-ops and 
invested to support co-op development. In turn, we use 
annual earnings on the fund to support local nonprofits. 
This year, we will be offering six $1,000 grants to local 
nonprofits from the interest earned on this fund. See 
our website for information about how to apply for these 
grants as well as for information on how you can make a 
donation.

2020 COMMUNITY GRANT FUND WINNERS:

• Pioneer Valley Power Pack
• Arcadia Wildlife Sanctuary
• Easthampton Neighbors
• Julius Ford Harriet Tubman  

Healthy Living Community 
• Common Good
• Women's Fund of Western Massachusetts

SAFETY
This year, we established a monthly Safety Committee 
meeting. Our Webber and Grinnell representative, 
staff representatives and members of management 
meet each month to identify potential safety concerns, 
discuss training and development to focus on safety, and 
implement safety procedures throughout the co-op.

Safety was even more of a priority than we had ever 
anticipated this year. Anyone who shops at the co-op 
knows that we are going above and beyond state and local 
guidance to mitigate risk for our staff and customers. 

As anticipated last year, our worker’s comp rating 
(experience mod) has decreased this past year to 1.04 
(down from 1.11). This rating considers the frequency and 
severity of worker's comp claims. 

It has been a challenging and rewarding year working 
with River Valley Co-op. I'm looking forward to the ongoing 
organizational development as we open and operate two 
stores and increase the positive impact we can make as a 
cooperative retail and progressive union employer.

Safety
Committee

river 
valley 
co.op

wild  about  local

SOCIAL 
DISTANCING

The CDC recommends keeping

6 FEET BETWEEN 

YOURSELF AND 

OTHERS
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CO+OP BASICS 
Looking to stretch your 
grocery budget? So 
are we! That’s why we 
introduced the Co+op 
Basics program. Co+op 
Basics offers every day 
low prices on many 
popular grocery and 
household items. From 
chicken to cereal to paper 
towels, you’ll find both 
new value-priced brands 
as well as new low prices 
on some old favorites.

Note: Some items pictured here 
may not always be available.

CO+OP DEALS
We work closely with National Co+op 
Grocers [NCG], our co-op of food co-ops, 
to harness the combined purchasing 
power of over 150 food co-op across the 
country to secure lower prices for our 
customers. We use this buying power 
to leverage great savings on our co-op 
deals. These deals change biweekly and 
include items from every department. 
Select featured items can also be found 
in our Fresh Specials flyer.

FOOD FOR ALL is a program where 
participants receive a 10% off their 
co-op purchases. To qualify you must 
participate in SNAP, WIC, or SSI. Co-op 
ownership is not required.

OWNER APPRECIATION EVENTS are days 
or weeks when we show our love to our 
owners! Co-op owners who shop during 
these events will get 10% off a one time 
shopping trip.

BUYING CLUB is open to everyone in 
our community! Save when you pre-
order full cases of just about anything 
we sell! Co-op owners get 15% off and 
non-owners get 5% off. 

CO+OP OWNER BONUS BUYS 
Co-op Owner Bonus Buys are exclusive 
biweekly sales just for our owners 
and feature a hand-selected group of 
popular items from throughout the 
store, offered at great deals. 

Save $ Shopping at the Co-op
We're committed to stocking a wide range of high-quality 
products to meet the needs and budgets of all co-op shoppers. 
Just look for these signs throughout the store to find great deals!

co-op owner 
appreciation week

OWNERS GET 10% OFF* ONE SHOPPING TRIP!

Buying Buying 
ClubClub

Other Ways to Save

Note: Exclusions apply. See our website for full details.
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What Local Means to Us
A Local Hero product sticker signifies farms and businesses that qualify for the CISA  
(Community Involved in Sustaining Agriculture) Local Hero label by growing or producing products in 
the Pioneer Valley made from ingredients sourced in the Pioneer Valley. 

You'll see all of our local products marked with a Local Color sticker at the co-op. 

We consider products grown, produced, or manufactured in New England (MA, VT, NH, ME, RI, 
CT) and up to 150-miles from the co-op into NY state to be local. 

An increase of $251,763, or 3.87% over last year!

$6,765,109 In Local  
Purchases

&175
Local Farms

245
Local Vendors

We buy 
from...

by the numbers
LOCAL FOOD

Five College Farms • Hadley, MA

One of the important ways we fulfill our mission as a just marketplace 
that nourishes the community is by making local food a priority.
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• 

• Thousands of Weekly Customers & Owners 

• 400+ Local Farmers & Vendors

• CISA  (Community Involved in Sustaining Agriculture)

• Grow Food Northampton

• NFCA (Neighboring Food Co-op Association

• NOFA (Northeast Organic Farming Association)

• New England Farmers Union

Key Local Food Partners

LOCAL FOOD
Stone Soup Farm • Hadley, MA

Queen's Greens • Amherst, MA

Your Local Your Local FY20FY20 Purchases Purchases

10,244lbs
of honey sold

6,509lbs
of asparagus sold

11,756lbs
of peaches sold

107,614lbs
of apples sold

11,259lbs
of maple syrup sold

18,569gal
of milk sold
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News from our Expansion Project 
Manager, Monica Nuñez

When I was in the military, the four words were “Hurry up and 
wait”. When I was little, they were “Patience is a virtue”. Right 
now I’m working with “Breathe, mask, sanitize, breathe.”

My work for our co-op as our Expansion Project Manager 
is hard to describe. I manage our project from the co-op’s 
perspective. I work closely with our internal teams and our 
external contractors. There are a million different tendrils 
requiring attention, and priorities that are constantly pulling 
in different ways and directions. I coordinate communication 
amongst co-op management, our store designer, architect, 
civil engineer, general contractor, town government, and 
more. Lots and lots of meetings and phone calls and more 
meetings and more phone calls. I review and fine-tune store 
layout and merchandising plans, combing through detailed 
lists of equipment requirements, cut sheets, pricing quotes 
and order schedules, determining what should be owner-
supplied items vs vendor procured.

I am part and privy to all of our site work. I review all 
contractor invoicing details to ensure paperwork submitted 
to our Finance department is accurate. I ensure that our 
managers and staff are informed of progress, and include key 
folks for review meetings and conversations on improvement 
suggestions. And I spend a whole lot of my spare time (ha) 
representing the co-op’s interests when problem-solving. 

Watching our site change and our building go up over 
this past calendar year has been so gratifying. We’ve been 
incredibly fortunate to have chosen such a great team of 
contractors and businesses to work with. Folks who do damn 
good work, are committed to seeing this project be a success, 
collaborate as a team, and understand that we are working 
with a budget that doesn’t have a whole lot of stretch. 

“VE” is an abbreviation for Value Engineering. It means 
looking at every detail and identifying ways to reduce costs. 

Our design team and 
construction team met 
the VE challenge head on. 
They’ve worked to identify 
savings with ingenuity, 
perseverance, aplomb, 
and grace. There have 
been hours of behind the 
scenes meetings and off 
the clock work donated; 
materials gifted; invoices 
discounted; and many 
other gracious financial 
kindnesses. All while 
keeping the focus on our 
environmental and energy 
efficiency requirements – 
and staying on schedule.

A COUPLE OF NOTEWORTHY VE ITEMS RESULTING 
IN SUBSTANTIAL COST SAVINGS TO OUR PROJECT: 

• Procuring recycled barn board to use in our interior 
millwork

• A lighting package that is specifically designed to be 
energy efficient and rebate eligible

• Local, sustainably grown wood from Woodlands 
Cooperative, and Hilltown Land Trust that will be milled 
into timbers by Lashway Lumber – as well as local black 
locust posts from The Estate of Blue Sky

• Millwork from Madison Builders and the Oxbow Design 
Build Cooperative

• Tracking down a substantial discount on underslab 
insulation that was “the wrong color” for someone else’s 
job (still new and unused)

• Grinding the asphalt from the existing parking lot in place 
in order to eliminate transport fees

• Securing qualification for the Eversource program that 
will fund almost all costs of our EV charger parking lot 
installations

• Working with Co-op Power to secure a SMART Program 
incentive for solar energy cost reductions for 
participating low income co-op owners 

As an aside but related note (and yet separate from the 
physical building process – like, the building itself) is our 
solar project. We’ve been working with Co-op Power, Solar 
Design Associates, and Jonathan Wright on the plans and 
design for our PV systems and battery storage for almost two 
years. We secured our solar interconnection with Eversource 
with their guidance and support from Anthony L. Cignoli of 
A.L. Cignoli Associates as well as our city and state elected 
officials. We will have two separate PV systems – the rooftop; 
and the parking lot (which includes battery storage). Together 
they are expected to produce as much power in a year as 
we need to operate the co-op. We are using an electric heat 
pump system for heating the store so the only fossil fuel we 
will use is propane for our kitchen equipment.

OUR CURRENT PROJECT STATUS AND PROJECTED 
OPENING DATE: JUNE 2021
This pandemic has such a deep ripple effect; it could still 
create a number of unforeseen delays. We’re still targeting 
our CO (Certificate of Occupancy) for May, and then we’ll 
install shelving and displays, and start bringing food in. 

The tendrils that I mentioned earlier – they encircle all 
of us. We continue our work every day to ensure they are 
nourished and fortified to make us all stronger. As employees, 
co-op owners, and human beings we are working together to 
build a better future!

Thank you all for your loyalty, patience and continued 
support. I can’t wait for the ribbon cutting to welcome you to 
our second store.

“No great thing is created suddenly.” 
– Epictetus
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$40.96 million
Northampton & Easthampton

$43.09 million
Northampton & Easthampton

5.2% growth

FY2023

$45.09 million
Northampton & Easthampton

4.6% growth

FY2024

Our Co-op's Path & Timeline: 
One Store to Two Stores
2008 
• Open first store

2011 
• First store exceeds 10 year sale projection

2014
• First Store keeps growing
• Begin Board/co-op ownership discussion

about expansion
• Preliminary second store site search

and market study
• Co-op owner loan campaign successful

2014–2015
• Remodel first store
• Start site search and begin discussions with

co-op owners about second store
• First store keeps growing

2016–2017
• Second store site preliminary feasibility studies

and property negotiations
• First store keeps growing

2018
• Secure and announce option on preferred

second store site
• 12–18 months for due diligence and fundraising
• First store keeps growing

2019
• Co-op owner loan campaign successful
• Secure Special Permit approval
• Extend property purchase option period for

purchase through January 18, 2020
• Solar Project Approval
• First store keeps growing

January 2020
• Close on financing and purchase property

February 2020
• Start construction on second store

March 2020
• COVID-19 global pandemic pauses construction

April 2020
• Resume construction on Easthampton store

July 2020
• Solar interconnection agreement with Eversource

May 2021
• Easthampton store construction complete
• Prepare Easthampton store for opening

− Inventory
− Signage
− Staffing

June 2021
Open for business!

FY2022

$27.46
million
Northampton

FY2022

$13.5
million
Easthampton

FY2023

$28.28
million
Northampton

FY2023

$14.81
million
Easthampton

FY2024

$29.13
million
Northampton

FY2024

$15.96
million
Easthampton

9.7% growth3% growth

7.8% growth3% growth

FY2018

$28
million
Northampton

FY2019

$29.57
million
Northampton

FY2020

$30.64
million
Northampton

FY2021

$31.2
million
Northampton

5.4% growth

3.4% growth

1.8% growth

-12% growth new income

GROWING OUR 
CO-OP, GROWING OUR 
COMMUNITY, GROWING 
A BETTER FUTURE 
TOGETHER
Over the next four years 
we are planning to grow 
our co-op sales 42% by 
opening a second location in 
Easthampton. We expect our 
Northampton store to remain 
strong while the Easthampton 
store gets established. The 
Easthampton store will have 
a lot of room for further 
growth and our Northampton 
store is expected to continue 
to grow following an initial 
transfer of 12% of its sales to 
the Easthampton location.

30.4% growth
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River Valley Co-op has expressed opposition to the 
roundabout project planned for the Y-intersection of Hatfield 
Street and Route 5/North King Street in Northampton 
for multiple reasons. An archaeological discovery dating 
back 8,000 or more years lies in the path of the proposed 
construction. We strongly object to its destruction and 
have added our voice to those calling for preservation. In 
addition, several years before the historical site was known, 
we began serious discussions with City and State officials 
about our concerns with this construction project. We 
formally opposed the project in 2017. The disruptive 18-24 
month timeline creates a significant economic threat to our 
co-op and we’ve proposed alternative solutions to support 
traffic safety. Our last proposed compromise was to request 
overnight construction to mitigate the disruption. But, as 
we learned more about the historic site, we concluded that 
the construction (day or night) simply had to be stopped to 
prioritize historic preservation.

We had expected that upon learning the site was eligible 
on several criteria for the National Registry of Historic Places 
(NRHP), it would require the City and State to change their 
plans and preserve the site. It is hard to imagine that this 
intersection project is so important that it is worth destroying 
a historical site of this significance. Our expectations were 
not met.  In June 2020 we alerted our owners that the MA DOT 
planned to begin bulldozing in early July. We’re grateful for 
the support that has kept that from happening so far.

The Attorney General delayed construction while the 
Federal Highway Administration (FHA) moved forward with 
the National Historic Preservation Act (NHPA) chapter 106 
public review process, which is required prior to the start 
of federally funded construction involving the discovery 
of historical features. This includes consulting with and 
securing agreement from the Federally Recognized Native 
American Nations including the Aquinnah Wampanoag and 
the Narragansett as well as other stakeholders to ensure 
that the project addresses their concerns for protecting 
culturally sensitive areas. River Valley Co-op was also granted 
consulting party status as an abutter in August of 2020. We 
have been reviewing documents, asking questions, following 
the complex process and learning the roles of the multiple 
agencies.

We were recently informed by the FHA that the 
Massachusetts Historic Commission (MHC) has signed off on 
its approval of the archaeological completion report. The MHC 
is recommending engaging a cultural monitor to oversee some 
early stages of the construction process. Our objections are 
that the FHA and MHC are very narrowly basing their decision 
on the completion of the work as outlined in their agreement 
with the archaeological agency. They are not considering 

the significance of what the archaeological report showed. 
They are also not taking into consideration that the scope of 
work in the agreement was inadequate for identifying all the 
cultural interests at risk.

While the State, through the MHC, has signaled it is ready 
to move forward with construction, we understand that the 
Aquinnah Wampanoag and the Narragansett have not agreed. 
It is not yet clear how this will be resolved.

When you look at the National Registry of Historic 
Places (NRHP) which shows all the sites granted national 
historic preservation status, you can see evidence that the 
Commonwealth has long standing practices that have resulted 
in minimal preservation of Native American sites. With over 
10,000 years of Native American history in Massachusetts 
and hundreds of Tribes with historical and cultural ties to this 
land, we have preserved less than 20 Native American sites. 
Yet, with 400 years of colonial history, we’ve preserved over 
4,000 other historic sites. Our historic preservation practices 
erase Native American culture and history. These practices 
nearly led to the destruction of this site in Northampton in 
July 2020, and they remain a threat.

Preserving this site, at the very least, is an opportunity to 
stop another act of injustice. And perhaps it is an opportunity 
for a first step toward building a more inclusive and equitable 
historic preservation policy.

This roundabout project will destroy an ancient Native 
American site, it will also cause serious financial hardships to 
our co-op and other local businesses in the neighborhood.  
We are opposed to this project for all these reasons and 
call on our City and State to reconsider this project. We call 
for a stop to the planned construction. We call for historic 
preservation of the site.  We call for addressing historic 
preservation through a more transparent, inclusive, anti-
colonial lens, fully honoring the authority and cultural 
interests of the Native American Nations.

We are watching to see what the outcome of the NHPA 
chapter 106 review process with the Federal Highway 
Administration will be. It seems poignant that we are 
approaching the 400th anniversary of the landing at Plymouth 
Rock, the historic start of colonization and genocide. Is 2020 a 
turning point?

We are asking you to join us in envisioning our community 
coming together to support the preservation of this site with 
gratitude that it was discovered at a time when its importance 
would be honored.  As the next steps in the process unfold we 
will keep you updated.

Yes, 2020 is the time for supporting  
Native American historic preservation!

2020: Isn't It Time to Support 
Native American Preservation?
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We're wild about our local farmers & vendors!

Old Friends Farm • Amherst, MA

Berkshore Seafood • Northampton, MA Atlas Farm • South Deerfield, MA
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Food for All (FFA) is a needs-based program to help better 

serve low income people in our community. FFA reached one 

million dollar milestone for low income sales last year, a 23% 

increase over the previous year.

The Low Income Owner Assistance Program gives everyone, 

regardless of income, an opportunity to become a co-op 

owner of River Valley Co-op and enjoy all the benefits of 

being an owner of the co-op. This program is for people who 

are committed to supporting our co-op by becoming owners, 

but who would not otherwise be able to afford to join. We 

increased low income owners using this program by 7.74% for 

a total of 362 last year.

$105,833
Needs-Based Grocery Discounts

$429,138
In SNAP Sales

495
Total Food for All Participants

362
Total Low Income Owners

Supporting 
Economic 
Accessibility 
in Co-op 
Shopping & 
Ownership

Annual Food for All Discounts Annual SNAP Discounts

$332,946 $333,964

$354,941

$372,316

$370,997

$429,138

$300,000

$350,000

$400,000

$450,000

FY20FY19FY18FY17FY16FY15

$44,026
$47,081 $57,956

$80,032

$86,028

$105,833

$40,000

$60,000

$80,000

$100,000

$120,000

FY20FY19FY18FY17FY16FY15
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River Valley Co-op is a member of several different co-ops 
including National Co-op Grocers (NCG), Associated Grocers of 
New England (AGNE), Frontier Co-op, Co-op Power, and FEDCO.

We buy and sell co-op produced foods and products 
including: Equal Exchange, Frontier Co-op, Our Family Farms, 
Alaffia, Organic Valley, Cabot Creamery, Real Pickles, Artisan 
Beverage Co-op, Wellspring Cooperative Greenhouse, and La 
Riojana.

We work with all kinds of co-ops and co-op associations, 
including UMass Five College Credit Union, Columinate 
Consulting Co-op, The Neighboring Food Co-op Association 
(NFCA), Valley Alliance of Worker Co-ops (VAWC), PV Squared 
(Pioneer Valley Photovoltaics), Collective Copies, Twin Pines 

Cooperative Foundation, Cooperative Fund of New England 
(CFNE), National Cooperative Bank (NCB), Local Enterprise 
Assistance Fund (LEAF), and the National Cooperative 
Business Association (NCBA). 

PEDAL POWER!
In the fall of 2019 we moved our entire administrative team 
to offices in Florence, MA. For the recycling and compost at 
our admin office, we work with Pedal People cooperative, a 
local worker-owned delivery and hauling service. They pickup 
our recycling and compost by bike and deliver it to the local 
transfer station–all year round! 

Real Pickles is a worker-cooperative based in Greenfield, MA that 
produces high quality pickled foods, using natural fermentation. 
They purchase all of their vegetables and fresh herbs and spices 
from organic family farms in the Northeast. All of their 100% organic 
products are carried at River Valley Co-op, and only sold within in the 
Northeast. Images above courtesy of Real Pickles.

La Riojana Cooperative produces Argentinian fair 
trade wines and olive oil. Their US distribution is 
exclusively with food co-ops. 2020 was our fifth year 
having Riojana at our co-op and sales were $63,351, 
for a total of 7,643 bottles sold last year and is 
one of our top selling wines. La Riojana’s 100% 
commitment to implementing and following the 
principles of Fair Trade are perfectly illustrated by 
the investment they have made with their Fair Trade 
premium towards the health of their community: 
building a community center, a local clinic and 
primary school in Tilimuqui.

La Riojana Co-op  
Wines & Olive Oil  

Sold in FY20

7,643 
BOTTLES

$7,787,365
NCG Purchases

$1,953,230
Other Co-op Purchases

$9,740,595
FY20 Purchases from Co-op Vendors

Cooperation Among Cooperation Among 
CooperativesCooperatives

+ =
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One of Our Key  
Local Food Partners

"We are so appreciative of the support and solidarity the River Valley Co-op has 
provided to both meeting the needs of food insecurity by providing bulk dry food for 
our four weekly food distributions and also for being the first and continuous buyer to 
our sister farm, Riquezas Del Campo Cooperative Farm."
– Rose Bookbinder, Co-Director & Lead Organizer of Pioneer Valley Workers Center

The Pioneer Valley Workers Center is an immigrant and worker-led organization that 
fights for collective power and racial and economic justice. 

RIQUEZAS DEL CAMPO COOPERATIVE FARM
On May Day 2019, Pioneer Valley Workers Center secured access to seven acres of fertile 
land, where they grow food to feed our community. They worked in close collaboration 
with the Kestrel Land Trust, the City of Northampton, Equity Trust,  All Farmers and TESA.

River Valley Co-op was the first wholesale customer for this immigrant led cooperative 
farm near our Northampton store in 2019 and we're happy to be working with them for 
their second season.  

PVWC FOOD DISTRIBUTION
Since May 2020, PVWC has been doing food distributions in 4 locations throughout the 
valley to immigrant community members. River Valley Co-op has contributed over $5,900 
in bulk products including weekly donations of rice, beans, masa, and cooking oil since 
early in the pandemic to assist these food distributions!

Farm image © Erin Long
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RIVER VALLEY CO-OP  
COMMUNITY FUND GRANTS
Arcadia Wildlife Sanctuary ................ $1,000
Common Good ....................................... $1,000
Easthampton Neighbors .................... $1,000 
Ju lius Ford Harriet Tubman  

Healthy Living Community ............. $1,000
Pioneer Valley Power Pack ................ $1,000
Women’s Fund of Western MA .......... $1,000

BULK GIFT CARDS
Through our “Scrip” program, local schools, 
churches, and nonprofits purchase co-op 
gift cards in bulk at 5% or 10% discount 
and sell them at full price to raise funds 
for their organizations. We sold $202,700,in 
bulk gift cards and contributed $17,600 in 
discounts. Any nonprofit can apply for our 
scrip program to qualify for a bulk co-op 
gift card discount to use for fundraising for 
their organizations.

COMMUNITY SUPPORT
Sponsorships, underwriting, and in-kind 
donations: $123,810

Major Cash Sponsorships Over $1,000  
(totaling $116,865):

Arise for Social Justice ........................ $4,000
Big Brothers Big Sisters ...................... $1,000
Black Lives Matter ................................ $1,000
Center for New Americans ................. $1,000
Chili Festival ........................................... $1,000
Co mmunity Involved in  

Sustaining Agriculture ................... $24,000
Double Edge Theater ........................... $2,500
Easthampton City Arts ........................ $5,000
Easthampton Community Center .... $1,000
EmbraceRace .......................................... $1,000
Food Co-op Initiative .......................... $15,482
Fo od Bank of Western MA/ 

Monte’s March ................................... $2,500
Food Bank of Western MA/WB4F ..... $2,000
Gardening the Community................. $3,000
Grow Food Northampton ................... $10,000

Mass Audubon at Arcadia .................. $1,000
The National Bail Fund Network...... $2,000
Nashawannuck Pond ........................... $2,000
Northampton Arts Council, Inc ........ $5,000
Northampton Pride .............................. $1,000
North Star Center for Teens .............. $1,500
Pur Planet Co-op Forest ..................... $2,000
Pioneer Valley Workers Center ........ $5,900
River Valley Community Fund ........... $15,482
So journer Truth School  

for Social Change ............................. $1,000
Twin Cities Mutual Aid Society ......... $1,000
Unbroken Wings, Inc. ........................... $1,000
Un doing Racism  

Organizing Collective ..................... $1,000
Valley Free Radio .................................. $1,320
WAMC Northeast Public Radio ......... $7,750
WFCR New England Public Radio ..... $9,275
WellSpring Co-operative .................... $2,500

Other Sponsorships, Underwriting,  
and In-Kind Donations:

Abundance Farm 
Academy of Charlemont
Baystate Health Foundation
Beit Ahavah
Breakfast after Dark
Breathing Spaces
Bridge Street School PTO
Cancer Connection
Children’s Miracle Network
Christopher Heights Assisted Living
Clark School for Hearing Speech
Co mmunity Involved in  

Sustaining Agriculture (CISA)
Common Share Food Co-op
Congregation B’nai Israel
Doctors for Global Health
Easthampton City Arts  
Easthampton High School
Easthampton Neighbors
First Churches
Florence Night Out
Food Bank of Western MA
Forbes Library
Friends of Amherst Community Theater
Friends of Forbes, INC
Friends of Hilltown Cooperative Charter
Gardening the Community
Gateway City Arts
Girls on the Run
Grow Food Northampton
Hadley Council of Aging
Hampshire Chorus
Hartsbrook School
Hatfield Elementary School 
Hatfield Public Schools
Healing Across the Divide
Highland Valley Elder Services
Hilltown Sled Dogs
Historic Northampton
Jackson Street School 
Language Institute 
Leeds PTO
Local Vocal Chord Bowl
Kestrel Land Trust
Manna Soup Kitchen
Mike McNeil Organization
New England Adventures
New England Public Radio
Newspapers in Education 
Nolumbeka Project

Northampton Arts Council
Northampton Center of the Arts
Northampton Education Foundation
Northampton High School Robotics Team
Northampton Neighbors
Northampton Pride
Northampton Print and Book Fair
Northampton PTO
Northampton Survival Center
Northeast Organic Farming Association
North Star Self-Directed Learning for Teens
Out for Reel
Paradise City Arts Festival
Pioneer Valley Ballet
Pioneer Valley Habitat for Humanity
Pioneer Valley Jazz Shares
Pioneer Valley Performing Arts Charter
Pioneer Valley Workers Center
PRIA Music
Purgia Press
The Purple Flame
Real Live Theater 
Riverside Industries
River Valley Ice Cream Ride
Rock Voices
Royal Frog Ballet
Safe Passage
Sage Meadow Farm
Smith Vocational High School
Soldier On 
Sojourner Truth Committee
Southern Poverty Law Center
Smashing Pumpkins
STArHs
Straw Dog Writer’s Guild
Super Tye Recycling
Therapeutic Equestrian Center
Toxics Action Center 
Threads Art Collective
UFCW
United Arc
Unitarian Society
Valley Classical Concerts
Valley Educational Associates
Volunteers in Northampton Schools
VoteTruth Committee
We the People
Whole Children
Young at Heart
Youth Performance Festival
Zanta Period Project

Our customers contributed $2,128 to The 
Food Bank of Western Massachusetts 
in FY20 through the Check Out Hunger 
Program! 

Giving 
Back
We made significant 
contributions to local 
nonprofits and community 
organizations to support 
their work, special events, 
and fundraising efforts 
totaling $153,310. 
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In February 2020, our Co-op Green Stamp 
Program transitioned into Change for 
Change. Change for Change is a round-up 
at the register program where each 
time you shop you will have the option 
to round your bill to the nearest dollar 
or nearest $5 or $10 or more if you like. 
Each month, the change is donated 
to one nonprofit organization in our 
community.

Co-op owners nominate and 
vote on which local nonprofit 
will receive the donation, 
but all shoppers can donate 
to the program!

Change Changefor
round-up at the register

July ..................................................Whole Children ($722)

August & September ..................Will Bike 4 Food/Food Bank of Western MA ($1,257)

October .......................................... Northampton Neighbors ($733)

November ......................................Gardening the Community ($761)

December & January ..................Friends of Hampshire County Homeless Individuals ($2,599)

February ........................................Community Involved in Sustaining Agriculture ($1,753) 

March ..............................................Hilltown Land Trust ($814)

April ................................................Northampton Survival Center ($1,322)

May ..................................................Easthampton Community Center ($1,020)

June .................................................Manna Soup Kitchen ($1,368)

Donated to local nonprofits in FY20 by co-op shoppers

$$1212,,353353
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27.3 tons
of farmer pickup

382.54 tons
of cardboard recycled

343.86 tons
of compost

Alternative TransportationAlternative Transportation

Michael Docter from Winter Moon 
Roots in Hadley not only delivers his 
root veggies to the co-op by bicycle, 
but he's also one of our many local 
farmers who use our food waste on 
their farm!

Minimal PackagingMinimal Packaging

100%100%
From Constellation Energy, Co-op Power,  
and about 5% from our own solar panels

Green ElectricityGreen Electricity

Reduce & Reuse

$2,553,886$2,553,886
Worth of bulk products sold
An increase of $171,741, or 7.21% over last year!

261261
Bicycle Benefits Members

To learn more about Bicycle Benefits visit our website!
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Elizabeth Appelquist
I'm one of the owners of Cider House 
Media in Easthampton. We’re a digital 
agency providing marketing for small 
and regional businesses. I’m very excited 
to apply to be a member of the Board 

because as an owner I feel a sense of pride in being part of 
such a vibrant, growing business and would love to be a part 
of its governance and to help to continue its success as River 
Valley expands to Easthampton.  

I grew up in Easthampton and since I moved back to the 
area in 2013 I have enjoyed being a part of my community, 
supporting local businesses through work with Cider House 
and personally by serving on the Emily Williston Library 
Board, the Pioneer Valley Ballet Board, and the Easthampton 
Cultural Arts District Subcommittee. 

I love the idea of being a part of a group that so 
thoughtfully embraces its owners, customers, and community 
with such deep respect as it engages environmental, social 
justice, and equality issues and works hard to maintain 
diversity and inclusion wherever it can. Whenever I’m in the 
store I can not only feel the same care and respect shared 
amongst and toward the employees, but also toward all the 
food and other products in the store.

Other things about me: I am married and we have 2 kids: 
Arden, a tiger kitty, and Jackson, our wonderful 4-year-old 
black lab. I grew up in Easthampton and I returned in April of 
2013 from California to help my Mom with cancer treatments 
as she was diagnosed with an aggressive lymphoma. She 
passed in August of that year so my husband Lennie and I 
moved back to care for my Dad (sadly he passed in February 
of this year). So now I’m living in the house that I grew up in! 
I love to cook and since we’ve been stuck at home (we are 
still working remotely) due to the pandemic, I have become 
hopelessly addicted to the Food Network channel and my cast 
iron skillet! 

Angus Brewer
I am comfortable in myriad settings, 
personable and able to work with folks 
from many disparate backgrounds. As 
Black Lives Matter dominates the news 
cycles (and not always for positive 

reasons)--as public dialogue about brown peoples’ treatment 
at the hands of law enforcement continues; as income gaps 
widen; as concern about how to navigate the pandemic 
deepens; and as tactfulness and diplomacy become ever 
more vital when trying to engage communities, I draw on my 
strengths to help present a rational, articulate, and patient 
voice for unity. I would like to add my voice to yours, as a 
member of the Board. 

I have been helping effect positive change in the lives of 
others, especially children and students, for three decades. 
I have marched in solidarity with under-served people of all 
colours. I have taught pre-schoolers and college graduates 
in public, private, and charter schools throughout the Happy 
Valley and beyond--and policy development, planning, and 
organisational evaluation have always played a part. I’ve been 
a state social worker; a counsellor in group homes, hospitals, 
and a prison; and a fiery, socially-conscious spoken-word 

*****************

*****************

One of the most important 
ways you can participate 
and make your voice heard 
in a co-op is by voting in the 
election for the Board of 
Directors.

The annual Board 
of Directors Election 
is underway and ends 
December 2, 2020 (the 
night of the co-op’s Annual 
Meeting). There are three 
seats up for election (we 
stagger terms for the nine 
directors so one-third are elected every year).

The River Valley Co-op Board of Directors nominate 
applicants (indicated on the ballot form) who meet a 
minimum set of qualifications to be candidates for the 
Board. We are pleased to announce all seven of the 2020 
applicants for Board positions were nominated by the 
Board and are now seeking your support by a vote in this 
election. Candidates on the 2020 ballot have committed 
to making a significant commitment to the co-op and 
each candidate brings with them a depth of experience 
and perspective. Vote for 3 candidates.

We will be using Simply Voting, a third-party election 
service, again this year. This will be our fourth year with 
Simply Voting, which has increased voter participation 
with online voting. Simply Voting mails each co-op 
owner a ballot and instructions for either online or 
mail-in voting, as well as tallying both electronic and 
paper votes. Each owner will have a secure password for 
accessing the online ballot. 

If you prefer to deliver your paper ballot to the 
store's Customer Service desk or bring it to the Annual 
Meeting, that is still an option. Our co-op benefits from 
good leadership—thank you for voting in this year’s 
election!

Look for your ballot in the mail!
Email nlatour@rivervalley.coop if you need assistance.

Board of 
Directors 
Election & 
Candidate 
Statements
YOUR VOTE COUNTS AT THE CO-OP!
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artist. I also functioned as a trainer--one of my chief duties in 
my Reserves units. I brought these skills to our Co-op, where 
I've been working for two years. 

 I have many other talents and interests, including being 
a professional DJ and emcee for the past thirty-six years 
performing for crowds both small and large from Chicago to 
New York to Boston to Atlanta--I even provided the musical 
backdrop for your 2018 Annual Board Meeting! 

I'm unafraid of hard work or tough questions, slow to 
anger, and quick to mirth. I listen patiently, ask questions 
regularly, admit when I’m ignorant, apologise when I’m wrong, 
learn from my mistakes, and try hard to think before I speak. 
While I know that our Co-op is in great hands, I also know that 
with the addition of my hands, together we can broaden our 
mission’s scope and become a more visible and outspoken 
supporter of all our communities. Thank you.

Angela D’Souza
As a fourth-year teacher, I have 
worked with students whose access 
to nutrient-rich, affordable, and 
sustainably-packaged food is scarce, 
even in the “Happy Valley.” Last 

February, I was moved and motivated by LaDonna Sanders 
Remond’s Truth School for Social Justice workshop, as 
she explicitly drew the lines between “Big Pharma,” 
Big Agriculture, and their dependence on chain grocery 
conglomerates. She confirmed something I already believed: 
disconnection and divestment of producer-consumer 
relations and reliance on heavily processed foods both 
discredits and dismisses people’s lived knowledge as part of 
an ecosystem. 

We deserve to know where our food comes from, 
including packaged superfoods and synthesized alternative 
meat products. But, all too often, our purchases are 
symptomatic of the pace and capitalist requirements of a 
constructed environment and culture of hustle. Affordable, 
healthy food is a right, and motivation to feed one’s family 
cannot incur the penalties of compounded exhaustion from 
long shopping commutes or detainment in racially-biased 
incidents in worst cases. As a Board Member, my voice will 
contribute to growing River Valley Co-op’s programs, which 
facilitate understanding, working across, and celebrating 
differences among communities, in collaboration towards our 
shared commitment to care for people, steward the planet, 
and sustain ourselves through profit. 

As a researcher-educator, I know that the most 
sustainable way to spark change in public consensus is to 
foster a sense of curiosity and develop problem-solving skills 
to address social issues that leave community members 
excluded or unvalued. As COVID-19 halted in-school learning, 
I was leading a new school-wide composting program that 
would have empowered high school students to compost 
approximately 200 meals daily, and selling that compost could 
have funded field trips and resources for clubs and affinity 
groups. Continuing this organizational work to sustain such a 
school-based program, I propose further engaging schools to 
create and adopt multidisciplinary curricula around farms to 
household tables, and home and school gardens.

Everything we need to shape a more equitable society 
is already here: it’s a matter of hearing everyone’s voices 

and elevating those who have yet to be represented in our 
assemblies of power. Today, I offer my voice.

Jeff Greim
If selected, I’d be honored to serve 
on the Board of the River Valley 
Co-op because I believe strongly in 
the co-op’s stated purpose: “To be a 
just marketplace that nourishes the 

community.” 
I am retired now, but this belief is reflected in the 

many paid and volunteer positions I’ve held over the years. 
These include being a kindergarten teacher in rural North 
Carolina, a director of publicly funded services for homeless 
families in New York City, a Chief Operating Officer of a large 
nonprofit in Springfield providing social services to people 
throughout New England, and the Director of Graduate 
Studies in Nonprofit Management and Philanthropy at Bay 
Path University. I’ve also served on several nonprofit boards, 
including that of the Massachusetts Nonprofit Network, the 
membership organization for all nonprofit organizations in 
Massachusetts. In these varied positions, I have gained a lot 
of “treadwear” successfully planning, budgeting, managing, 
creating public policy, problem-solving, and most importantly, 
working in diverse community settings. I would love to use 
these skills to help the co-op continue to fulfill its stated 
purpose.   

My belief in a just marketplace and the value of 
community is also reflected in my current retirement job as 
the unpaid Founder & CEO of Jeff’s Granola—a local granola 
company that donates 100% of its profits to charities selected 
by its customers. You may have heard of Jeff’s Granola 
because it is sold at the co-op. Thanks to RVC and my loyal 
customers, Jeff’s Granola donated $1,193 to the United Way of 
Hampshire County last year. 

Again, I hope you’ll give me the honor of serving on your 
Board. I’d love to help the co-op continue to grow and be 
successful in nourishing the community. 

Gary L. Schaefer INCUMBENT
In 1997 a group of us met regularly 
to brainstorm how “Northampton 
Community Food Co-op” could become 
a reality.  Today we are a flourishing 
business with over 11,000 members and 

a second store opening in a few months where everyone is 
welcome.

For four decades I co-owned an ice cream manufacturing 
and distribution company, in the Pioneer Valley, with two ice 
cream shops.  In addition to our ice cream, we also distributed 
locally produced foods.  Since I have a degree in Business and 
Accounting  along with a Masters in Social Work, I blended my 
education and passions to create a company that adapted 
and flourished with the changing times.

My business experiences have served me well as a River 
Valley Co-op Board member for the past three years.  I am a 
strong advocate of the co-op business model as a resilient 
alternative for the traditional corporate business model.  I 
also helped found and advised Our Family Farm Milk Co-op 
(now in its 25th year). I’m also a member of other Western 
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Mass food co-ops.
As a River Valley Co-op Board member, I’ve worked 

co-operatively with the Board to reach consensus and tackle 
many challenging issues like economic, social and racial 
diversity.  Our second Co-op store will open in 2021, but 
our work continues as we navigate many current and future 
needs.  What I love and cherish about being part of our Co-op 
Board is that our mission is to thrive financially as we guide 
our store and our members closer to a just and sustainable 
future.

Alex Risley Schroeder INCUMBENT
It is a privilege to again seek a position 
on the Board of Directors. 

Our food co-op meets a triple 
bottom line of people, planet, profit. 
In these times, this triple bottom line 

resonates more deeply. Neighbors who need food and work, 
farmers and producers who need markets. A planet rocked 
by multiple crises, racial, environmental, and economic, that 
are rooted in searing inequities that we know are here too. 
A store with enough financial sturdiness (in these fiscally 
complex and lean times) to have staff who could rework 
store operations so that we are as safe as we can be, and 
start building a second store with whole hearted financial 
support from owners. This inspires me to seek another term, 
to continue serving our Co-op workers, our farmers and 
producers, our owners, and our communities.

I am a skilled participatory facilitator who works with 
individuals and groups to collaboratively analyze, synthesize, 
and build do-able solutions. I have worked in adult basic 
education, skill training, 'green' economy development, 
including local food systems, and to strengthen economic 
supports for families. Six years ago, I ran for a position on 
the Board to help grow our local food economy and increase 
the number of good food jobs. In those six years, we have 
moved ahead to secure a location, finalize financing, including 
a successful owner loan campaign, and begin construction of 
our second store. I have learned a lot in the past two terms 
about co-ops, people, financing, food, and growing a business 
and I will keep learning.

I bring a deep passion for River Valley Co-op to the work 
of the Board, and the belief that much can be solved when we 
do good work together. It would be an honor to continue as a 
director of our Co-op.

Eric A. Wirth
It is with much enthusiasm that I submit 
this statement for your consideration to 
join the River Valley Coop Board. I served 
2 terms on the board of the International 
Language Institute (ILI) of Massachusetts 

in Northampton, and one of those terms as their board 
president. Since retiring from my terms of service at ILI I have 
been eager to engage in new service opportunities to my 
community.

Beginning in 1997 when I started working at the Black 
Sheep Deli in Amherst, I was given my first vantage point 
for discovering the intersection of community, local food, 
and fair trade. Since 2008 as the head of Admissions for 
The School for International Training (SIT) in Brattleboro 
Vermont, I have had the pleasure of developing admissions 
policy and a work environment that supports educational 
opportunities for all persons regardless of age, ethnic origin, 
gender, nationality, ability, race, religion, sexual orientation, 
gender identity, or veteran’s status.  My work affords me 
the opportunity to support long-standing relationships 
within communities around the world, and engage students 
and faculty on such unique study abroad programs such as 
Food Systems: Agriculture, Sustainability, and Justice and 
graduate programs centered on sustainable development 
and development practice. My commitment to a more just, 
equitable and peaceful work inform my service on SIT’s 
Equity, Diversity, and Inclusion (EDI) committee and engage 
with external partners such as Diversity Abroad. Most recently 
I led an initiative that created an online Equity Diversity and 
Inclusion Alumni Mentoring Program and an online database 
of student resources centered around the four categories of 
diversity outlined in Edward Hubbard’s Diversity Scorecard – 
situational, structural, behavioral, and global diversity.

As a homeowner and community member of Easthampton 
for over a decade, the opportunity to strengthen my 
commitment to Easthampton within a social justice 
framework, to help be a part of its economic development, 
all while doing something as exciting and engaging as taking 
an active role within my local Coop, becoming a River Valley 
Coop board member speaks strongly to the new challenges I 
am seeking.

Board of Directors at the Easthampton store building summer 2020 playing five-gallon bucket "drums" with spoons



Voluntary & Open Membership
Cooperatives are voluntary organizations, open to all people able to use its services and willing to accept the 
responsibilities of membership, without gender, social, racial, political or religious discrimination.11
Democratic Member Control
Cooperatives are democratic organizations controlled by their members—those who buy the goods or use the 
services of the cooperative—who actively participate in setting policies and making decisions.

Members’ Economic Participation 
Members contribute equally to, and democratically control, the capital of the cooperative. This benefits members 
in proportion to the business they conduct with the cooperative rather than on the capital invested.

Autonomy & Independence
Cooperatives are autonomous, self-help organizations controlled by their members. If the co-op enters into 
agreements with other organizations or raises capital from external sources, it is done so based on terms that 
ensure democratic control by the members and maintains the cooperative’s autonomy. 

Education, Training, & Information
Cooperatives provide education and training for members, elected representatives, managers and employees so 
they can contribute effectively to the development of their cooperative. Members also inform the general public 
about the nature and benefits of cooperatives.

Cooperation Among Cooperatives
Cooperatives serve their members most effectively and strengthen the cooperative movement by working together 
through local, national, regional and international structures.

Concern for Community
While focusing on member needs, cooperatives work for the sustainable development of communities through 
policies and programs accepted by the members.

22
33
44
55
66
77

Food Co-ops and co-ops around the world are guided by the same seven basic principles. 
We follow these principles to provide value to our owners (you!), our community,  

and to help make the world a better place.

The Seven Cooperative PrinciplesThe Seven Cooperative Principles
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Financial Trends & FY20 Results

Cost of  
Goods Sold

63.74%

Personnel

24.66%

Cost of Goods Sold 
63.74%
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24.66%

Operating Expenses 
2.78%

Occupancy 
2.54%

Advertising & Promotions 
2.04%

Depreciation & Amortization 
1.46%

Net Income Before Taxes 
1.13%

Administration 
1.07%

Governance 
.19%

FY20 Operating Expenses

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

FY20FY19FY18FY17FY16FY15FY14FY13FY12FY11FY10FY09

Annual Sales (in millions)

-$1,500,000

-$1,000,000

-$500,000

0

$500,000

$1,000,000

$1,500,000

$2,000,000

FY20FY19FY18FY17FY16FY15FY14FY13FY12FY11FY10FY09

Annual Net Profit (after taxes)

River Valley Co-op Owners

921 648592753984898700682496367582613New Owners

0

2000

4000

6000

8000

10000

12000

FY20FY19FY18FY17FY16FY15FY14FY13FY12FY11FY10FY09

-$2,00,0000

-$1,500,000

-$1,00,0000

-$500,000

0

$500,000

$1,00,0000

$1,500,000

$2,00,0000

$2,500,000

$3,00,0000

$3,500,000

FY20FY19FY18FY17FY16FY15FY14FY13FY12FY11FY10FY09

Net Owners’ Equity

0

450

900

1350

1800

FY20FY19FY18FY17FY16FY15FY14FY13FY12FY11FY10FY09

Average Daily Transaction Count

$41,087
Property Tax

$18,384
Meal Tax

Local Taxes Support our CommunityLocal Taxes Support our Community



33

DRAFT - S
UBJE

CT TO C
HANGE

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

To the Board of Directors 
Northampton Community Cooperative Market, Inc. 
Northampton, Massachusetts 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Northampton Community 
Cooperative Market, Inc., which comprise the consolidated balance sheets as of June 30, 2020 and 2019, 
and the related consolidated statements of income, equity, and cash flows for the years then ended, and 
the related notes to the financial statements. 

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial
statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; 
this includes the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation 
and fair presentation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our
audits. We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United
States of America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in 
the consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment,
including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control 
relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order 
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. Accordingly, we express no
such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the 
overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our audit opinion. 

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material 
respects, the financial position of Northampton Community Cooperative Market, Inc. as of June 30, 2020 
and 2019, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with 
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.
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2 

Adoption of New Accounting Guidance 

As discussed in Note 1 to the financial statements, Northampton Community Cooperative Market, Inc. 
adopted the Financial Accounting Standards Board’s Accounting Standards Update (ASU) No. 2014-09, 
Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606), and all subsequently issued clarifying ASUs as of 
July 1, 2019. Our opinion is not modified with respect to this matter. 

Wegner CPAs, LLP 
Madison, Wisconsin 
September 23, 2020
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2020 2019
ASSETS
CURRENT ASSETS

Cash 3,648,072$       4,834,932$     
Accounts receivable 71,721 61,698
Prepaid expenses 28,135 37,303
Prepaid income taxes 5,147 803
Inventory 797,470 792,708
Loans receivable 30,000 30,000

Total current assets 4,580,545 5,757,444

Property and equipment - net 12,558,984 6,828,841

OTHER ASSETS
Equity and deposits in cooperatives 366,627 311,522
Restricted cash - construction development 9,369,475 -    
Restricted cash - interest reserves 660,888 -    
Intangible assets 17,009 17,009

Total other assets 10,413,999 328,531

Total assets 27,553,528$     12,914,816$   

LIABILITIES AND OWNERS' EQUITY
CURRENT LIABILITIES

Accounts payable 1,607,052$       1,190,326$    
Accrued expenses 502,036 521,044
Patronage dividend payable 55,000 43,000
Current portion of long-term debt 295,414 253,674

Total current liabilities 2,459,502 2,008,044

Long-term debt net of current portion and debt issuance costs 21,375,018 7,533,536
Deferred taxes 403,000 450,000

Total liabilities 24,237,520 9,991,580

OWNERS' EQUITY
Common stock, $1 par value, 50,000 shares authorized,

11,290 and 10,680 shares issued and outstanding 11,290 10,680
Additional paid-in capital 1,407,138 1,331,665
Stock issuance costs (29,839)  (29,839)   
Minority interest in River Valley Market, LLC 26 26
Minority interest in RVC Properties, LLC 41,424 -    
Retained patronage dividend 2,004,183 1,784,183
Accumulated deficit (118,214)  (173,479)   

Total owners' equity 3,316,008 2,923,236

Total liabilities and owners' equity 27,553,528$     12,914,816$   

NORTHAMPTON COMMUNITY COOPERATIVE MARKET, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

June 30, 2020 and 2019
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Amount % Amount %
SALES REVENUE

Gross sales 30,638,667$  100.00   29,622,084$  100.00   
Cost of goods sold (19,527,559)   (63.74)    (18,906,345)  (63.83)    

Gross profit 11,111,108    36.26  10,715,739   36.17     

OPERATING EXPENSES
Personnel 7,555,511      24.66  7,089,701 23.93     
Operating expenses 851,789    2.78    698,501 2.36       
Occupancy 778,307    2.54 818,375 2.76       
Promotions 623,540    2.04    682,846 2.31       
Depreciation 448,808    1.46    481,684 1.63       
Administrative expenses 327,511    1.07 302,468 1.02       
Governance 57,474      0.19    52,050 0.18       

Total operating expenses 10,642,940    34.74  10,125,625   34.19     

Net income from operations 468,168 1.52    590,114        1.98       

OTHER INCOME (EXPENSE)
Interest income 91,595 0.30    5,283  0.02       
Other income 71,131 0.23    26,958 0.09       
Interest expense (117,036)   (0.38)  (271,006)       (0.91)      
New store expenses (66,203)     (0.22)  (62,607)         (0.21)      
Loss on refinancing (82,733)     (0.27)  -          -
Other expense (13,824)     (0.05)  (8,249)           (0.03)      

Total other income (expense) (117,070)   (0.39)  (309,621)       (1.04)      

Net income before income taxes 351,098    1.13    280,493        0.94       

Provision for income taxes (20,833)     (0.07)  (68,887)         (0.23)      

Net income 330,265$       1.06    211,606$       0.71       

NORTHAMPTON COMMUNITY COOPERATIVE MARKET, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

Years Ended June 30, 2020 and 2019

2020 2019
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2020 2019
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Net income 330,265$    211,606$          
Adjustments to reconcile net income
to net cash flows from operating activities

Depreciation 448,808  481,684        
Deferred taxes (47,000)   (17,000)  
Loss on refinancing 82,733    -      
(Increase) decrease in assets

Accounts receivable (10,023) (27,560)  
Prepaid expenses 9,168      (13,317)  
Prepaid income taxes (4,344) 39,189   
Inventory (4,762)     (5,680)    
Equity and deposits in cooperatives (55,105) (18,891)  

Increase (decrease) in liabilities
Accounts payable 87,505    128,257        
Accrued expenses (19,008)   44,473   

Net cash flows from operating activities 818,237  822,761        

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchases of property and equipment (152,842)       (638,778)       

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from long-term debt 8,502,915     2,936,200     
Amortization of debt issuance costs 4,268      6,875     
Payments on long-term debt (403,582)       (1,375,427)    
Net proceeds from issuance of common stock 117,507  98,255   
Patronage dividends paid (43,000)   -      

Net cash flows from financing activities 8,178,108     1,665,903     

Change in cash 8,843,503     1,849,886     

Cash and restricted cash at beginning of year 4,834,932     2,985,046     

Cash and restricted cash at end of year 13,678,435$     4,834,932$       

NORTHAMPTON COMMUNITY COOPERATIVE MARKET, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Years Ended June 30, 2020 and 2019
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